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Operating Results
Net sales $426.613 $480,590 $455,839 $520,688 $449,627

Net income (loss) (28,964) (4,706) 1,992 26,281 31,712

Financial Position

Working capital $81,001 $173,224 $161,867 $153,389 $127,569

Long-term debt, less current maturities 38,696 130,645 127,285 118,511 102,685

Shareholder’s equity 167,517 192,647 197,347 194,623 167,258

Per Common Share*

Net income (loss)

Basic ($1.47) $(0.24) $0.10 $1.37 $1.66

Diluted ($1.47) (0.24) 0.10 1.33 1.59

Book value per common
share at year end 8.49 9.79 10.07 10.07 8.75

Other Data
Weighted average number
of common shares outstanding

Basic 19,672 19,638 19,442 19,222 19,065

Diluted 19,672 19,638 19,753 19,721 19,930

Common shareholders-approximate* 3,600 5,500 6,000 6,100 4,200

Associates* 2,547 2,772 2,854 3,301 2,975

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
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SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL DATA
(in thousands, except as noted*)

Quarterly Financial Highlights
(Unaudited)

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

2003 Net sales $122,128 $109,840 $106,870 $87,775
 Gross profit 20,607 19,928 18,313 12,016
 Net income (loss) (1,830) (2,212) (785) (24,137)
 Earnings (loss) per common share*
  Basic (.09) (.11) (.04) (1.23)
  Diluted (.09) (.11) (.04) (1.23)

2002 Net sales $122,442 $126,669 $126,100 $105,379
 Gross profit 27,876 26,625 20,762 8,668
 Net income (loss) 4,635 2,407 (1,438) (10,310)
 Earnings (loss) per common share*
  Basic .24 .12 (.07) (.52)
  Diluted .23 .12 (.07) (.52)

Common Stock Price *

2003 High $10.25 $  9.33 $12.72 $14.08
2003 Low 5.21 5.50 8.35 9.75

2002 High $18.10 $19.80 $16.48 $11.00
2002 Low 9.30 14.73 8.30 8.45

2003 2002 2001 2000 1999
Consolidated Income Statement Data

Net sales $426,613 $480,590 $455,839 $520,688 $449,627

Selling, general and administrative expenses 69,463 72,407 71,691 69,011 56,280

Goodwill impairment 16,261

Relocation and start-up expenses 3,277

Research and development 8,308 7,631 7,448 6,726 5,356

Income (loss) from operations (23,169) 616 11,784 47,138 52,521

Interest expense 7,289 10,474 9,367 8,652 4,253

Senior note termination expense 3,837

Net income (loss) (28,964) (4,706) 1,992 26,281 31,712

Earnings (loss) per common share* 

 Basic (1.47) (.24) .10 1.37 1.66

 Diluted (1.47) (.24) .10 1.33 1.59

Consolidated Balance Sheet Data

Working capital $  81,001 $173,224 $161,867 $153,389 $127,569

Total assets 320,956 416,979 400,691 398,795 355,437

Total short-term debt 36,685 3,220 2,368 1,986 596

Long-term debt, less current maturities 38,696 130,645 127,285 118,511 102,685

Shareholders’ equity 167,517 192,647 197,347 194,623 167,258

Book value per common share at year-end* 8.49 9.79 10.07 10.07 8.75

The Company’s common stock is traded on the National Association of Securities Dealers Automated Quotation (NASDAQ) 
National Market under the symbol ASTE. Prices shown are the high and low bid prices as announced by NASDAQ. The Company 
has never paid dividends on its common stock.
As determined by the proxy search on the record date by the Company’s transfer agent, the number of common shareholders is 
approximately 3,600.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL
CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve inherent risks and uncertainties. 
Actual results may differ materially from those contained in these forward-looking statements. For additional 
information regarding forward-looking statements, see “Forward-looking Statements” on page 36.

Results of Operations; 2003 vs. 2002

The Company experienced a net loss for 2003 of $28,964,000, or $1.47 per diluted share, an increase of 
$24,258,000, compared to a net loss of $4,706,000, or $.24 per diluted share in 2002. The weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding at December 31, 2003 was 19,671,697 compared to 19,638,103 at 
December 31, 2002.

Net sales for 2003 were $426,613,000, a decrease of $53,977,000, or 11.2%, compared to net sales of 
$480,590,000 in 2002. 

Domestic sales decreased from $401,284,000 in 2002 to $331,004,000 in 2003, a decrease of $70,280,000, 
or 17.5%. Domestic sales are primarily generated from equipment purchases made by customers for use 
in construction for privately funded infrastructure development and public sector spending on infrastructure 
development. Public sector spending at the federal, state and local levels is driven in large part by federal 
spending under the six-year federal-aid highway program, the Transportation Equity Act for the 21st Century 
(“TEA-21”), enacted in June 1998. TEA-21 authorized the appropriation of $217 billion in federal aid for road, 
highway and bridge construction, repair and improvement and other federal highway and transit projects 
for federal fiscal years October 1, 1998 through September 30, 2003. A new appropriation was enacted 
setting funding at a level of $33.6 billion for October 1, 2003 through September 30, 2004, but authorizing 
payment of such funds only through February 29, 2004.  The date has been extended until April 30, 2004.  
The Company believes the primary factor that caused its domestic sales to be negatively impacted in 2003 
continued to be the general slowdown in the economy.  Offsetting the decrease in domestic sales in 2003 
were sales of $20,984,000 in small trenchers, a new product line in 2003. Excluding the sales of small 
trenchers, domestic sales in 2003 would have decreased $91,264,000 compared to 2002.

In 2003 international sales increased $16,303,000, or 20.6%, to $95,609,000 compared to 2002 international 
sales of $79,306,000. International sales increased the most in Europe, followed by Africa, Australia and 
China. Sales declined by $4,083,000 in Central America, followed by South America with a decline of 
$1,499,000. The weaker dollar contributes to the increase, and the local economy of each country has a 
major impact. 

Parts sales were $99,980,000 in 2003 compared to $99,791,000 in 2002. The Company believes that parts 
sales did not change significantly in 2003 compared to 2002 as a result of the continued sluggish economy, 
which causes customers to repair rather than purchase new equipment. 

Gross profit decreased to $70,864,000, or 16.6% of net sales in 2003, compared to $83,931,000, or 17.5% 
of net sales in 2002. The primary factors that caused gross profit in 2003 to decrease from the gross profit in 
2002 include: an under utilization of capacity of $10.1 million, decreased sales volumes in the Asphalt and 
Aggregate Groups as described below, decreased prices as a result of competitive price pressure, continued 
start-up losses at the Loudon, Tennessee facility of $8.1 million and writedown of used and rental equipment 
of $4.2 million. These factors were offset by the manufacturing expenses, including labor and manufacturing 
overhead, being reduced $10.1 million in 2003 versus 2002.

In 2003 selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expenses decreased by $2,944,000 to $69,463,000, or 
16.3% of 2003 net sales, from $72,407,000, or 15.1% of net sales in 2002. The decrease in SG&A in 2003 
compared to 2002 was primarily due to lower payroll and related taxes, health insurance, legal, professional, 
advertising and marketing expenses. The decrease in SG&A was partially offset by additional SG&A 
expenses of $2,926,000 related to the small trencher product line that was added in 2003 at the Loudon, 
Tennessee facility. An additional offset of $2,470,000 in refinancing expense was included in SG&A.

Goodwill impairment charges of $16,261,000 were booked in 2003 as a result of evaluations completed 
under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 142 for each reporting unit. By operating segment, 
the charges are $11,734,000 for the Underground Group, $1,287,000 for the Aggregate Group, $2,310,000 
for the Mobile Asphalt Paving Group, and $930,000 for the Asphalt Group.

Relocation and start-up expenses in 2002 related to the move from Grapevine, Texas to Loudon, Tennessee 
and the move of the small trencher product line from Wichita, Kansas to Loudon, Tennessee.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Research and development expenses increased by $677,000, or 8.9%, from $7,631,000 in 2002 to 
$8,308,000 in 2003. The increase is related to the increased expenses of the expanded operations at 
Loudon, Tennessee. Research and development expenditures resulted in new products and product 
enhancements introduced in 2003.

Interest expense for 2003 decreased by $3,185,000, or 30.4%, to $7,289,000 from $10,474,000. This 
equates to 1.7% of net sales in 2003 compared to 2.2% of net sales for 2002. The decrease in dollars 
related to reduced debt levels and more favorable interest rates after a new credit arrangement was entered 
into in May of 2003. 

Senior note termination expense of $3,837,000 was incurred in 2003 as part of the refinancing of debt in 
May 2003. This amount is in addition to the $2,470,000 of refinancing expenses included in SG&A.

For 2003, the Company had a net income tax benefit of $4,486,000, or 13.4% of the pre-tax loss, compared 
to the 2002 benefit of $2,511,000, or 35.2% of the 2002 pre-tax loss. The largest contributor to the reduction 
in the effective tax benefit rate was non-deductible goodwill impairment charges of $15,851,000. Additionally, 
the establishment of a $1,049,000 valuation allowance for certain state tax loss carryforwards reduced the 
effective tax rate. The Company expects to utilize the remaining deferred tax asset in connection with future 
profitability, expected gain on the eventual sale of the Grapevine, Texas facility, increased backlog and the 
improving economy. There can be no assurances that these events will occur and there are no assurances 
that the remaining net deferred tax asset will be fully realized.

The backlog at December 31, 2003 was $79,402,000 compared to $60,698,000 at December 31, 2002, 
which represents a 30.8% increase. The backlog for the Asphalt Group decreased slightly, while backlogs 
for Aggregate, Mobile, and Underground Groups increased. The Company is unable to determine whether 
this backlog effect was experienced by the industry as a whole. We are unable to assess the amount of the 
impact attributable to the TEA-21 legislation, which became effective in October 1998 and ended September 
30, 2003. New long-term legislation is under consideration and the funding for October 1, 2003 through 
April 30, 2004 has been authorized. The Company believes that customers are looking forward to a six-year 
renewal of federal highway funding. The Company believes the increased backlog reflects an improvement 
in customer confidence that the economic conditions in the United States are improving, which should result 
in increased state fuel tax revenue and increased commercial projects.  

Even though the funding has only been authorized through April 2004, extension of TEA-21 funding 
through September 2004 has been set at $33.6 billion compared to $31.6 billion in 2003. Unquestionably, 
the Company believes that increased funding is needed to restore the nation’s highways to a quality 
level required for safety, fuel efficiency and mitigation of congestion. In the Company’s opinion, amounts 
needed are significantly above amounts proposed and funding mechanisms such as the federal usage fee 
per gallon, which has not been increased in eleven years, would need to be increased along with other 
measures to generate the funds needed.

Asphalt Group: For 2003, this segment had sales of $119,302,000 compared to $165,951,000 for 2002, 
a decrease of $46,649,000, or 28.1%. The segment loss for 2003 was $2,712,000 compared to a profit 
of $3,127,000 for 2002, for a decrease of $5,839,000. The primary reason for the decrease in sales is the 
decrease in domestic equipment sales. Continuing competitive price pressure, under utilization of capacity, 
and writedowns and loss on used equipment significantly impacted gross profits and segment income. The 
goodwill impairment impact to this segment was $929,000.

Aggregate and Mining Group: For 2003, sales for this segment decreased $21,652,000, or 10.9%, to 
$177,708,000 compared to $199,360,000 for 2002. The decrease in domestic sales was primarily due to 
reduced aggregate equipment sold as a complete system. Segment profit for 2003 decreased $2,784,000, 
or 35.2%, to $5,124,000 from $7,908,000 for 2002. Competitive price pressure, under utilization of capacity, 
cost overruns on systems jobs, sale of used equipment, unfavorable exchange rates and warranty costs 
impacted gross profit and segment income. Goodwill impairment for this segment was $1,287,000.

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group: For 2003, sales in this segment increased $3,247,000, or 4.5%, to 
$75,153,000 from $71,906,000 in 2002. Both domestic and international sales increased from 2002. 
Segment profit for 2003 decreased $3,592,000, or 86.5%, to $560,000 from $4,152,000 for 2002. Writedown 
of and loss on sales of used equipment were the primary factors that negatively impacted the 2003 profit. 
Goodwill impairment charges of $2,310,000 were booked in 2003 for this segment. 
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Underground Group: For 2003, sales in this segment increased $12,955,000, or 32.8%, to $52,410,000 
from $39,455,000 for 2002, primarily due to the addition of the Case small trencher product line. Segment 
losses for 2003 increased $13,544,000, or 160.1%, to a loss of $22,004,000 from a loss of $8,460,000 
during 2002, primarily from goodwill impairment charges of $11,734,000 and under utilization of capacity and 
continued start-up expenses of the Case and Trencor product lines in Loudon, Tennessee of $8.1 million, 
excluding goodwill. In 2002, relocating the Case New Holland product line from Kansas to Tennessee and 
the associated start-up expenses in Loudon totaled approximately $3,277,000 in 2002. 

Results of Operations; 2002 vs. 2001

The Company experienced a net loss for 2002 of $4,706,000, or $.24 per diluted share, a decrease of 
$6,698,000 compared to net income of $1,992,000, or $.10 per diluted share in 2001. The weighted average 
number of common shares outstanding at December 31, 2002 was 19,638,103 compared to 19,753,226 at 
December 31, 2001.

Net sales for 2002 were $480,590,000, an increase of $24,751,000, or 5.4%, compared to net sales of 
$455,839,000 in 2001.

Domestic sales increased from $364,428,000 in 2001 to $401,284,000 in 2002, an increase of $36,856,000, 
or 10.1%. During 2002, domestic sales continued to be impacted by a general economic slowdown 
throughout the year. Sales increased in the Asphalt and Aggregate Groups. In the Asphalt Group, parts 
sales, international sales, used equipment and systems jobs sales increased. Systems sales were the 
primary reason for the sales increase.

International sales decreased $12,105,000, or 13.2%, in 2002, to $79,306,000, compared to 2001 
international sales of $91,411,000. Sales declined by $10,740,000 in Central America. This decrease 
affected all segments except Asphalt. The second largest decrease was in Europe, with a decline in all 
segments totaling $6,830,000. In Central America, this change was primarily the result of one large systems 
job for approximately $8,769,000 in 2001. In Europe, the primary declines were in systems, mobile paving 
equipment and underground drilling equipment.

Parts sales increased from $93,493,000 in 2001 to $99,791,000 in 2002, an increase of $6,298,000, or 
6.7%. All segments focused heavily on parts sales and achieved an increase. Due to the sluggish economy, 
customer equipment was being repaired instead of replaced. 

Gross profit decreased to $83,931,000, or 17.5% of net sales in 2002 compared to $90,924,000, or 20.0% 
of net sales in 2001. Under utilization of capacity, decreased sales volumes (except in the Aggregate Group 
and Asphalt Group), competitive price pressure, cost overruns on systems jobs that were completed in 2002 
and writedown of used equipment resulted in a reduction in gross profits in 2002 compared to 2001 for all 
segments except the Aggregate Group.

In 2002 selling, general and administrative expenses increased to $72,407,000, or 15.1% of net sales, from 
$71,691,000, or 15.7% of net sales in 2001. Increased bank fees related to the Company’s credit facility 
totaled $750,000, while approximately $963,000 of the increase in 2002 was due to the Con-Expo exhibition, 
a trade show that is held every three years. Reduced legal and other expenses in selling, general and 
administrative expenses partially offset these items.

Research and development expenses increased by $183,000, or 2.5%, from $7,448,000 in 2001 to 
$7,631,000 in 2002. In spite of the slow economic conditions, the Company continued to enhance its 
current products with innovative features that benefit the customer. Product improvement and development 
continued in an efficient manner.

Interest expense for 2002 increased to $10,474,000 from $9,367,000, or 2.2% of net sales, from 2.1% of 
net sales for 2001. The increase related primarily to interest rate increases required by lenders as a result of 
covenant violations during the year. 

For 2002, the Company had a net income tax benefit of $2,511,000, or 35.2% of the pre-tax loss, compared 
to an income tax expense of $1,481,000, or 41.2% of the 2001 pre-tax income. The permanent non-tax 
deductible items decreased the taxable loss in 2002 and increased the taxable loss in 2001.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

The backlog at December 31, 2002 was $60,698,000 compared to $70,061,000 at December 31, 2001 
(restated to reflect the addition of the Case New Holland trencher line). The backlog for Asphalt Group 
orders, Aggregate Group orders and Underground Group orders decreased while the backlog for the Mobile 
Group increased.  While the backlog reflected a decline in sales, management believed that the decline was 
reflective of the then-current economic conditions in the United States and the then-current hesitancy of the 
Company’s customers to commit to capital equipment purchases. The hesitancy was a result of uncertainty 
of our customers regarding economic conditions, concern relating to highway funding by the states, lack of 
sufficient TEA-21 federal funding, concern over possible war impacts and concern over the increase in the 
price of oil.

Asphalt Group: For 2002, this segment had sales of $165,951,000 compared to $142,674,000 for 2001, an 
increase of $23,277,000, or 16.3%. Segment profit decreased $1,895,000, or 37.7%, to $3,127,000 for 2002 
compared to a segment profit of $5,022,000 for 2001. The primary reason for the increase in sales was the 
increase in domestic equipment sales, parts sales, used equipment and international sales of $6,059,000. 
Competitive price pressure and under utilization of capacity significantly impacted gross profits and segment 
income. Negative gross margins on highly specialized and customized jobs, especially in the construction 
and installation phase of the jobs, impacted gross margins substantially.

Aggregate and Mining Group: For 2002, sales for this segment increased $16,492,000, or 9.0%, to 
$199,360,000 compared to $182,868,000 for 2001. The increase in domestic sales of $29,995,000 
was primarily due to increased systems sales. Segment profit for 2002 increased $447,000, or 6.0%, to 
$7,908,000 from $7,461,000 for 2001. Construction and manufacturing cost overruns on systems jobs, 
competitive price pressure, under utilization of capacity and product mix impacted gross profit and segment 
income. International sales declined $13,503,000. 

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group: For 2002, sales in this segment decreased $6,582,000, or 8.4%, to 
$71,906,000 from $78,488,000 in 2001. Both domestic and international sales decreased from 2001. 
International sales during 2002 declined $1,771,000 from 2001. Segment profit for 2002 decreased 
$4,869,000, or 54.0%, to $4,152,000 from $9,021,000 for 2001. Product mix, under utilization of capacity 
and increased SG&A expenses impacted the 2002 profit. SG&A included increased selling, legal and 
exhibition expenses. 

Underground Group: For 2002, sales in this segment decreased by $9,200,000, or 18.9%, to $39,455,000 
from $48,655,000 for 2001, primarily due to fewer small machine sales to the communications industry. 
International sales declined $2,889,000. Segment losses for 2002 increased $3,623,000, or 74.9%, to a 
loss of $8,460,000 from a loss of $4,837,000 during 2001, primarily from under utilization of capacity and 
expenses of approximately $3,277,000 for moving the Trencor, Inc. operation from Texas to Tennessee, 
relocating the Case New Holland product line from Kansas to Tennessee and the associated start-up costs 
in a new location.

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Total short-term borrowings, including current maturities of long-term debt, were $36,685,000 at
December 31, 2003 compared to $3,220,000 at December 31, 2002. As described below,  $28.0 million 
related to the revolver portion of the credit facility is required to be classified as short-term borrowings. In 
addition, quarterly payments due on the General Electric Capital Corporation (“GE Capital”) term loan for 
2004 are $5,358,000, additional payments on the term loan for the Grapevine facility will start effective 
July 1, 2004 at the rate of $500,000 per quarter and outstanding Industrial Development Revenue Bonds 
accounted for $500,000 of the current maturities of long-term debt at December 31, 2003. 

Net cash provided by operating activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2003 was $8,179,000 
compared to $33,622,000 for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002. The decrease in net cash 
provided by operating activities in 2003 is primarily due to net operating losses of $29.0 million, along with a 
reduction of accounts payable reflecting lower purchasing activity and a reduction of other accrued liabilities 
due to the elimination of interest due to the payoff of the senior notes and payment for the initial receipt of 
purchased parts in connection with the start-up in Loudon, Tennessee. Offsetting the decreases were a 
$6.9 million tax refund, a decrease in accounts receivables reflecting decreased sales and a reduction in 
inventory demonstrating the focus to sell used equipment and minimize inventory.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

As discussed in Note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has restated the revolving 
portion of its credit facility for the second quarter ended June 30, 2003 and for the third quarter ended 
September 30, 2003 in accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 95-22 Balance Sheet 
Classification of Borrowings Outstanding Under Revolving Credit Agreements That Include Both a Subjective 
Acceleration Clause and a Lock-Box Arrangement. The effect is to restate debt previously reported as 
long-term debt amounting to $27.8 million and $39.6 million in the second and third quarters of fiscal 
2003, respectively, to current liabilities. In accordance with EITF 95-22, the Company has also classified 
the revolving credit facility as a current liability in its financial statements as of December 31, 2003. The 
restatement will not have an impact on the Company’s total assets, shareholder’s equity, liquidity or the 
results of operations for the impacted quarters or for the year ended December 31, 2003 and will not affect 
the financial covenants in the Company’s credit facilities. 

On August 26, 2003 the Company repaid to the Grapevine Industrial Development Corporation the 
outstanding bond liability dated April 1, 1994 in the amount of $8,000,000 related to the Trencor, Inc. facility 
in Grapevine, Texas.

The Company’s South African subsidiary, Osborn Engineered Products SA (Pty) Ltd., has available a credit 
facility of approximately $2,985,000 (ZAR 20,000,000) to finance short-term working capital needs, as well 
as to cover the short-term establishment of credit performance guarantees. As of December 2003 Osborn 
Engineered Products SA (Pty) Ltd. had no outstanding cash balance due under the credit facility but had 
approximately $1,293,000 in performance and retention bonds guaranteed under the facility. The facility 
is secured by the Company’s accounts receivable and retention balances. The available facility fluctuates 
monthly based upon fifty percent (50%) of the Company’s accounts receivable, retention and cash balances 
at the end of the prior month.

On September 10, 2001 the Company and Astec Financial Services, Inc. entered into a note purchase 
agreement for $80,000,000 of senior secured notes, placed with private institutions, due September 10, 
2011 at a fixed rate of interest of 7.56%. As mentioned above, the Company refinanced its senior secured 
notes and credit facility in May 2003. In addition, as reported on Form 8-K on May 19, 2003, the Company 
issued to the former senior note holders subordinated convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount 
of $10,000,000 to satisfy “make-whole” obligations under the senior notes by reason of the prepayment. On 
July 15, 2003, the Company exercised its right to redeem the subordinated convertible notes for $4,154,000, 
which included accrued interest through that date. As a result of this redemption, the Company satisfied all 
of its obligations related to the early payoff and the “make-whole” provision of the senior note agreement.

Capital expenditures in 2004, budgeted at a maintenance level, are expected with some other items, such 
as machinery and equipment currently used at a leased facility and buyout of a machinery and equipment 
lease, to be approximately $7,416,000. The Company expects to finance these expenditures using the 
available capacity under the Company’s revolving credit facility and internally generated funds. Capital 
expenditures for 2003 were $3,588,000 compared to $19,274,000 in 2002. Capital expenditures for 2002 
included the purchase of the Loudon, Tennessee facility, machinery and equipment for approximately 
$12,800,000.

The Company believes that its current working capital, cash flows generated from future operations and 
available capacity remaining under its credit facility will be sufficient to meet the Company’s working capital 
and capital expenditure requirements through December 31, 2004. The Company is attempting to sell its 
Grapevine, Texas facility. The future sale of the Grapevine facility should generate additional funds, the first 
$6,250,000 of which will be used to reduce the term loan and the remainder will be used to provide working 
capital or reduce the revolver. There can be no assurances on when, or if, the Company will be successful 
in selling the Grapevine facility. During 2003 the Company did not depreciate the Grapevine, Texas facility 
held for sale. For the year ended December 31, 2003 the Company had depreciation expense savings of 
approximately $283,000 related to assets held for sale.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Net cash provided by operating activities for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001 was $1,452,000.  
The increase in net cash provided by operating activities for 2002 compared to 2001 was primarily due to 
decreases in inventory and trade receivables, along with increases in trade accounts payable and other 
accrued liabilities during 2002.

Cash flows from investing activities reflect the collection of finance receivables as a result of the Astec 
Financial Services, Inc. portfolio sale and the sale of leased equipment in connection with the wind down 
of Astec Financial Services, Inc.. Investing activities, primarily because of the disposition of Astec Financial 
Services, Inc. assets, provided cash of $30,421,000 in 2003, but used cash of $14,327,000 in 2002, 
resulting in a positive improvement of $44,748,000. The Company does not expect any cash provided by 
investing activities during 2004 unless the Company is successful in selling the Grapevine facility or other 
unused assets. 

Long-term debt, less current maturities, decreased to $38,696,000 at December 31, 2003 from 
$130,645,000 at December 31, 2002. At December 31, 2003, $28,464,000 was long-term under the GE 
Capital term loan, $10,200,000 was outstanding under the long-term principal portion of Industrial Revenue 
Bonds, and $32,000 was outstanding under other notes. 

On September 10, 2001 the Company entered into an unsecured $125,000,000 revolving loan agreement 
with a syndicate of banks. At December 31, 2002 the Company was utilizing $31,902,000 of the $58,200,000 
amount then available under the credit facility for borrowing and an additional $21,300,000 to support 
outstanding letters of credit (primarily for industrial revenue bonds). At December 31, 2002 the Company 
also had $80,000,000 of senior notes held by private institutions. 

On May 14, 2003 the Company refinanced its revolving credit facility and senior note agreement with new 
credit facilities of up to $150,000,000 through GE Capital secured by the Company’s assets. As part of the 
refinancing agreement, the Company entered into a term loan in the amount of $37,500,000 with an interest 
rate of one percent (1%) above the Wall Street Journal prime rate. At a later date, the Company may elect 
an interest rate at a percentage above the LIBOR. The term loan requires quarterly principal payments of 
$1,339,286 on the first day of each quarter beginning July 1, 2003, with the final installment of the principal 
balance due on May 14, 2007.

The credit agreement also included a revolving credit facility of up to $112,500,000, of which available credit 
under the facility is based on a percentage of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable and inventories. 
Availability under the revolving facility is adjusted monthly and interest is due in arrears. Principal covenants 
under the loan agreement include a fixed charge coverage ratio covenant and a limitation on capital 
expenditures.

On September 30, 2003, related to the syndication of the loan by GE Capital, the Company entered into 
the First Amendment to the Credit Agreement that reduced the availability under the credit facility from 
$112,500,000 to $87,500,000, which has a $5,000,000 limit for contingent liabilities and guaranteed 
indebtedness of the Company. The Company requested the reduction in the revolving credit facility to 
reduce the fees paid for the daily available but unused portion of the revolving facility. In addition, the 
amendment increased the interest rate to one and one-half percent (1.5%) above prime or, at the election of 
the Company, to three and one-half percent (3.5%) above LIBOR. This debt modification resulted in a write-
off of debt issuance costs of $545,000.

On October 29, 2003, related to the syndication of the loan by GE Capital, the Company amended its credit 
agreement to: 1) raise the threshold of required lender approval to at least eighty-one percent (81%) for 
certain material amendments to the credit agreement; and 2) require any overadvances (over the borrowing 
base formula contained therein) be repaid within sixty (60) days. 

At December 31, 2003 the Company was not in compliance with the fixed charge coverage ratio covenant of 
its credit facility. The violation was waived as part of an amendment to the credit agreement dated
March 3, 2004, which amended the fixed charge coverage ratio for the next three quarters of 2004. At 
December 31, 2003 the Company was utilizing $27,997,000 of the amount available under the revolving 
credit facilities, $34,821,000 as term loans under the credit facilities and an additional $16,297,000 to 
support outstanding letters of credit (primarily for industrial revenue bonds).
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Critical Accounting Policies

The Company’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States. Application of these principles requires the Company to make 
estimates and judgments that affect the amounts as reported in the consolidated financial statements. 
Accounting policies that are critical to aid in understanding and evaluating the results of operations and 
financial position of the Company include the following:

Inventory Valuation: Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. The most significant component 
of the Company’s inventories is steel. Open market prices, which are subject to volatility, determine the 
cost of steel for the Company. During periods when open market prices decline, the Company may need 
to provide an allowance to reduce the carrying value of the inventory. In addition, certain items in inventory 
may be considered obsolete, and as such, the Company may establish an allowance to reduce the carrying 
value of these items to their net realizable value. The amounts in these inventory allowances are determined 
by the Company based on certain estimates, assumptions and judgments made from the information 
available at that time. Historically, inventory reserves have been sufficient to provide for proper valuation of 
the Company’s inventory. The Company does not believe it is reasonably likely that the allowance level will 
materially change in the future.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts: The Company evaluates its ability to collect accounts receivable based on 
a combination of factors. In circumstances where the Company is aware of a specific customer’s inability 
to meet its financial obligations, a specific reserve for bad debts is recorded against amounts due to reduce 
the net recognized receivable to the amount reasonably expected to be collected. Additionally, a general 
percentage of past due receivables is reserved, based on the Company’s past experience of collectibility. 
If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expected defaults or an unexpected materially adverse change 
in a major customer’s ability to meet its financial obligations), estimates of the recoverability of amounts 
due could be reduced by a material amount. The Company’s level of reserves for its customer accounts 
receivable fluctuates depending upon the factors discussed. Historically, the allowance for doubtful accounts 
has been sufficient to provide for write-offs of uncollectible amounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts 
decreased to $1,752,000 at December 31, 2003 from $2,775,000 at December 31, 2002, due primarily 
to the decreased total of finance receivables held by the former finance subsidiary at December 31, 2003 
compared to December 31, 2002. The Company does not believe it is reasonably likely that the allowance 
level will materially change in the future.

Litigation Contingencies: As a normal course of business in the industry, the Company is named as a 
defendant in a number of legal proceedings associated with product liability matters. The Company does 
not believe it is party to any legal proceedings that will have a materially adverse effect on the consolidated 
financial position. It is possible, however, that future results of operations for any particular quarterly or 
annual period could be materially affected by changes in assumptions related to these proceedings.

As discussed in Note 12 of the consolidated financial statements, as of December 31, 2003 the Company 
has accrued its best estimate of the probable cost for the resolution of these claims. This estimate has 
been developed in consultation with outside counsel that is handling the defense in these matters and is 
based upon a combination of litigation and settlement strategies. Certain litigation is being addressed before 
juries in states where past jury awards have been significant. To the extent additional information arises or 
strategies change, it is possible that the Company’s best estimate of the probable liability in these matters 
may change.

New Accounting Standards

The Company’s two post-retirement medical and life insurance plans provide prescription drug benefits that 
may be affected by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”), 
signed into law in December 2003. In accordance with FASB Staff Position FAS 106-1, Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act 
of 2003, the effects of the Act on the Company’s medical plans have not been included in the measurement 
of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation or net periodic post-retirement benefit cost for 2003. 
Specific authoritative guidance from the FASB on the accounting for the federal subsidy is pending and 
that guidance, when issued, may require the Company to restate previously reported information and may 
require the Company to amend its plans to benefit from the Act.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Market Risk and Risk Management Policies

The Company is exposed to changes in interest rates, primarily from its revolving credit agreements 
and industrial revenue bonds. Until May 2003, the Company used interest rate derivative instruments 
to manage exposure to interest rate changes for a portion of its debt arrangements. At December 31, 
2003 the Company did not have interest rate derivatives in place. The current fluctuations in interest are 
subject to normal market fluctuations of interest. A hypothetical 100 basis point adverse move (increase) 
in interest rates would have adversely affected interest expense by approximately $735,000 for the year 
ended December 31, 2003. The Company’s earnings and cash flows are also subject to fluctuations due 
to changes in foreign currency exchange rates; however, these fluctuations would not be significant to the 
Company’s consolidated operations.

The Company is subject to foreign exchange risks arising from its foreign operations in its local currency. 
Foreign operations represented 7.6% and 5.5% of total assets at December 31, 2003 and 2002, 
respectively, and 9.0% and 7.0% of total revenue for 2003 and 2002, respectively. Assuming foreign 
exchange rates decreased ten percent (10%) from the December 31, 2003 and 2002 levels, the December 
31, 2003 and 2002 shareholders’ equity would not be materially affected.

Aggregate Contractual Obligations

The following table discloses aggregate information about the Company’s contractual obligations and the 
period in which payments are due as of December 31, 2003:

Payments Due by Period

Contractual Obligations Total
Less Than

1 Year
1 to 3 Years 3 to 5 Years

More Than
5 Years

Revolving credit loan $ 27,996,898 $ 27,996,898

Long-term debt obligations 45,521,429 6,857,143 $ 11,714,286 $ 17,750,000 $ 9,200,000

Operating lease obligations 3,965,436 2,459,647 1,263,066 188,515 54,208

Purchase obligations 54,987 54,987

Other long-term notes reflected on the 
registrant’s balance sheet under GAAP 1,863,283 1,831,378 21,270 10,635

Total $ 79,402,033 $ 39,200,053 $ 12,998,622 $ 17,949,150 $ 9,254,208

Contingencies 

Management has reviewed all claims and lawsuits and, upon the advice of counsel, has made adequate 
provision for any estimable losses. However, the Company is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the 
outstanding claims and lawsuits.

Certain customers have financed purchases of the Company’s products through arrangements in which the 
Company is contingently liable for customer debt and residual value guarantees aggregating $21,125,000 
and $14,749,000 at December 31, 2003 and 2002, respectively. These obligations average three years in 
duration and have minimal risk. Astec Financial Services, Inc. sold installment loans, finance and operating 
leases with recourse. 

The Company is contingently liable under letters of credit of approximately $16,297,000 primarily related to 
Industrial Revenue Bonds.

Off-balance Sheet Arrangements

As of December 31, 2003 the Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements as defined by 
Item 303(a)(4) of Regulation S-K.

Environmental Matters 

Based on information available, management is not aware of the need for environmental reserves.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

December 31,

Assets 2003 2002

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $     9,734,537 $   30,341,171
Trade receivables less allowance for doubtful accounts of
 $1,752,000 in 2003 and $2,775,000 in 2002 44,749,274 48,964,719
Finance receivables 286,795 17,915,726
Notes and other receivables 982,060 9,568,052
Inventories 110,233,695 120,237,521
Prepaid expenses 9,236,731 6,063,303
Refundable income taxes 6,839,098
Deferred tax asset 8,904,801 9,721,492
Other current assets 24,531 224,140
 Total current assets 184,152,424 249,875,222
Property and equipment, net 105,181,753 125,799,279

Other assets:
Goodwill 20,887,084 36,093,277
Finance receivables 581,869 1,767,133
Notes receivable 39,405 201,968
Assets held for sale 5,751,375
Other 4,362,555 3,242,248

 Total other assets 31,622,288 41,304,626

Total assets $ 320,956,465 $ 416,979,127

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current liabilities:
Revolving credit loan $   27,996,898
Current maturities of long-term debt      8,688,521 $     3,219,725
Accounts payable 28,955,842 33,679,806
Customer deposits 9,910,443 6,338,533
Accrued product warranty 3,612,930 3,646,045
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 2,124,494 2,464,217
Other accrued liabilities 21,862,193 27,303,053
 Total current liabilities 103,151,321 76,651,379
Long-term debt, less current maturities 38,696,191 130,644,744
Deferred tax liability 2,895,336 9,220,675
Deferred retirement costs 5,865,368 5,632,541
Other 2,341,362 1,722,361

Total liabilities 152,949,578 223,871,700

Minority interest 489,664 460,215
Commitments and contingencies Notes 7, 8, 12 and 18

Shareholders’ equity:
Preferred stock - authorized 4,000,000 shares of
 $1.00 par value; none issued
Common stock - authorized 40,000,000 shares of
 $.20 par value; issued and outstanding -
 19,738,046 in 2003 and 19,677,440 in 2002 3,947,609 3,935,488
Additional paid-in capital 52,988,951 52,547,239
Accumulated other comprehensive income 1,113,693 (2,896,680)
Company shares held by SERP, at cost (1,459,000) (785,000)
Retained earnings 110,925,970 139,846,165

Total shareholders’ equity 167,517,223 192,647,212

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $  320,956,465 $ 416,979,127
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Forward-Looking Statements

This annual report contains forward-looking statements made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.  Statements contained anywhere in this Annual Report that 
are not limited to historical information are considered forward-looking statements within the meaning of 
Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including, 
without limitation, statements regarding: 

• execution of the Company’s growth and operation strategy; 
• compliance with covenants in the Company’s credit facilities; 
• liquidity and capital expenditures; 
• sufficiency of working capital, cash flows and available capacity under the Company’s credit facilities;
• government funding and growth of highway construction and commercial projects;
• taxes or usage fees; 
• financing plans; 
• industry trends; 
• pricing and availability of oil; and
• condition of the economy. 

These forward-looking statements are based largely on management’s expectations which are subject 
to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors discussed in this report and in 
documents filed by the Company with the Securities and Exchange Commission, which may cause actual 
results, financial or otherwise, to be materially different from those anticipated, expressed or implied by 
the forward-looking statements.  All forward-looking statements included in this document are based on 
information available to the Company on the date hereof, and the Company assumes no obligation to 
update any such forward-looking statements to reflect future events or circumstances. You can identify these 
statements by forward-looking words such as “expect,” “believe,” “goal,” “plan,” “intend,” “estimate,” “may,” 
“will” and similar expressions. 

In addition to the risks and uncertainties identified elsewhere herein and in documents filed by the Company 
with the Securities and Exchange Commission, the following factors should be carefully considered when 
evaluating the Company’s business and future prospects: decreases or delays in highway funding; rising 
interest rates; changes in oil prices; changes in steel prices; downturns in the general economy; unexpected 
capital expenditures and decreases in liquidity; the timing of large contracts; production capacity; general 
business conditions in the industry; non-compliance with covenants in the Company’s credit facilities; 
demand for the Company’s products; and those other factors listed from time to time in the Company’s 
reports filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Certain of the risks, uncertainties and other 
factors discussed or noted above are more fully described in the section entitled “Business - Risk Factors” in 
the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2003.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income (loss) $(28,964,005) $(4,705,926) $ 1,992,422
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash 
provided by operating activities:
 Depreciation and amortization 13,126,232 15,211,581 17,045,572
 Provision for doubtful accounts 312,021 1,168,447 1,637,639
 Provision for inventory reserves 5,304,370 3,104,411 990,904
 Provision for warranty 7,599,745 8,840,731 3,778,458
 Deferred tax provision (benefit) (5,508,648) (610,269) (1,169,090)
 (Gain) loss on disposition of fixed assets (1,034,489) (162,721) 191,122
 Gain on sale of equipment on operating lease (534,325) (708,046) (626,289)
 Gain on sale of finance receivables (18,000) (342,063) (408,840)
 Equity in loss of joint venture 241,922
 Goodwill impairment 16,260,974
 Minority interest in losses (earnings) of subsidiary 136,967 80,403 (98,578)
(Increase) decrease in:
 Receivables 6,575,947 3,244,069 677,165
 Inventories 6,291,914 6,527,167 (4,446,613)
 Prepaid expenses (2,752,027) (1,378,562) (879,420)
 Other assets (1,347,012) (2,316,920) (991,190)
Increase (decrease) in:
 Accounts payable (5,705,024) 6,536,815 (11,046,880)
 Customer deposits 3,515,342 (1,886,474) 2,191,155
 Accrued product warranty (7,744,036) (8,535,986) (4,855,359)
 Refundable income taxes 6,839,098
 Income taxes payable 2,292,637 597,519 (1,339,156)
 Loss reserves of captive insurance company 2,014,416 2,275,444 749,312
 Other accrued liabilities (8,763,779) 6,592,169 (2,101,412)
 Foreign currency transaction (gain) loss 280,578 90,651 (80,925)

Net cash provided by operating activities 8,178,896 33,622,440 1,451,919

Cash Flows from Investing Activities

Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 1,660,676 1,238,570 236,286
Expenditures for property and equipment (3,588,297) (19,273,932) (8,057,422)
Proceeds from sale of equipment on operating lease 6,611,539 16,634,694 25,141,768
Expenditures for equipment on operating lease (14,704,868) (28,001,408)
Additions to finance receivables (1,043,412) (40,741,257) (46,908,713)
Collections of finance receivables 18,190,171 20,413,550 26,729,468
Proceeds from sale of finance receivables 1,585,484 29,330,175 18,996,855
Additions to notes receivable (300,800) (7,228,110) (692,760)
Repayments on notes receivable 7,305,714 4,554 460,885

Net cash provided (used) by investing activities 30,421,075 (14,326,624) (12,095,041)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Net sales $   426,613,037 $   480,589,793 $   455,839,164
Cost of sales 355,749,200 396,659,249 364,915,606
Gross profit 70,863,837 83,930,544 90,923,558
Selling, general and administrative expenses 69,463,415 72,407,228 71,690,984
Goodwill impairment 16,260,975
Relocation and start-up expenses 3,276,559
Research and development expenses 8,308,014 7,630,975 7,448,332
Income (loss) from operations (23,168,567) 615,782 11,784,242
Other income (expense)
 Interest expense (7,289,055) (10,474,350) (9,367,054)
 Senior note termination expense (3,836,975)
 Interest income 750,618 1,632,780 1,585,039
 Amortization of goodwill and other intangible assets (452,572) (141,139) (2,202,677)
 Other income - net 579,543 1,241,946 2,039,420
Equity in loss of joint venture (241,922)
Income (loss) before income taxes (33,417,008) (7,124,981) 3,597,048
Income taxes (4,486,416) (2,511,266) 1,480,748
Income (loss) before minority interest (28,930,592) (4,613,715) 2,116,300
Minority interest 33,413 92,211 123,878
Net income (loss) $    (28,964,005) $      (4,705,926) $       1,992,422

Earnings (Loss) per Common Share

Net income (loss):
 Basic $               (1.47) $               (0.24) $                0.10
 Diluted (1.47) (0.24) 0.10
Weighted average number of common shares
outstanding:
 Basic 19,671,697 19,638,103 19,441,818
 Diluted 19,671,697 19,638,103 19,753,226

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

Shares Amount

Additional 
Paid-in 
Capital

Retained 
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Company 
Shares Held 

by SERP

Total
Shareholders’

Equity

Balance
December 31, 2000 19,319,746 $3,863,949 $48,440,594 $142,528,695 $   (210,298) $           -- $194,622,940

Net income 1,992,422 1,992,422

Other comprehensive income (loss):

 Foreign currency
  translation adjustments (2,126,103) (2,126,103)

 Unrealized loss on cash
  flow hedge, net of income
  taxes of $269,549 (439,730) (439,730)

Comprehensive loss (573,411)

Exercise of stock options,
 including tax benefit 149,758 29,951 1,769,817 1,799,768

Stock issued in business
 combination 133,675 26,735 1,470,616 1,497,351

Balance
December 31, 2001 19,603,179 3,920,635 51,681,027 144,521,117 (2,776,131) 197,346,648

Net loss (4,705,926) (4,705,926)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

 Minimum pension liability adjustment,
  net of income taxes of $809,570 (1,320,879) (1,320,879)

 Foreign currency
  translation adjustments 1,348,045 1,361,961

 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge,
  net of income taxes of $99,064 (147,715) (161,631)

Comprehensive loss (4,826,475)

Exercise of stock options,
 including tax benefit 74,261 14,853 866,212 881,065

Change in minority interest
 ownership 30,974 30,974

Cost of Company stock
 held by SERP

(785,000) (785,000)

Balance
December 31, 2002 19,677,440 3,935,488 52,547,239 139,846,165 (2,896,680) (785,000) 192,647,212

Net loss (28,964,005) (28,964,005)

Other comprehensive income (loss):

 Minimum pension liability adjustment,
  net of income taxes of $106,784 174,226 174,226

 Foreign currency
  translation adjustments 3,617,015 3,617,015

 Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge,
  net of income taxes of $134,307 219,132 219,132

Comprehensive loss (24,953,632)

Exercise of stock options,
 including tax benefit 60,606 12,121 441,712 453,833

Change in minority interest
 ownership 43,810 43,810

Purchase of Company stock
 held by SERP (674,000) (674,000)

Balance
December 31, 2003 19,738,046 $3,947,609 $52,988,951 $110,925,970 $1,113,693 $(1,459,000) $167,517,223

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Cash Flows from Financing Activities

Proceeds from issuance of common stock $           382,014 $           698,540 $          748,153
Net borrowings (repayments) under revolving credit loans (3,905,306) 5,314,410 (70,353,821)
Cash paid for retirement of stock (70,776) (87,888)
Principal repayments of industrial bonds, loans
 and notes payable (95,113,634) (6,769,101) (4,520,082)
Purchase of company shares by
 Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan (674,000) (785,000)
Proceeds from debt and notes payable 40,122,943 5,655,642 84,632,406
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities (59,258,759) 4,026,603 10,506,656
Effect of exchange rates on cash 52,154 348,574 (246,684)
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (20,606,634) 23,670,993 (383,150)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period 30,341,171 6,670,178 7,053,328
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period $        9,734,537 $      30,341,171 $      6,670,178

Supplemental Cash Flow Information

Cash paid during the year for:
 Interest $        9,213,232 $      10,235,731 $      7,823,874
 Income taxes (net of refunds) $        (6,526,586) $        (2,955,356) $      4,882,833

Tax benefits related to stock options:
 Refundable income taxes $           105,809 $      1,051,615
  Additional paid-in capital $            (71,820) (105,809) (1,051,615)
 Income tax payable 71,820

Non-cash business combination:
 Investment in subsidiary $         144,600
 Accrued liability 1,352,751
 Common stock (26,735)
 Additional paid-in capital (1,470,616)

See Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets - In the event that facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amounts of long-lived assets may be impaired, an evaluation of recoverability would be performed. If an 
evaluation is required, the estimated future undiscounted cash flows associated with the asset would be 
compared to the carrying amount for each asset to determine if a writedown is required. If this review 
indicates that the assets will not be recoverable, the carrying value of the Company’s assets would be 
reduced to their estimated market value. 

Revenue Recognition - A portion of the Company’s equipment sales represents equipment produced in 
the Company’s plants under short-term contracts for a specific customer project or equipment designed 
to meet a customer’s specific requirements. Equipment revenues are recognized in compliance with the 
terms and conditions of each contract, which is ordinarily at the time the equipment is shipped. Certain 
contracts include terms and conditions through which the Company recognizes revenues upon completion 
of equipment production, which is subsequently stored at the Company’s plant at the customer’s request. 
Revenue is recorded on such contracts upon the customer’s assumption of title and all risks of ownership. 
The Company has a limited number of sales accounted for as multiple-element arrangements, whereby 
related revenue on each product is recognized when it is shipped, and the related service revenue is 
recognized when the service is performed.

Advertising Expense - The cost of advertising, other than direct response advertising, is expensed as 
incurred. The Company incurred approximately $2,088,000, $2,700,000 and $4,447,000 in advertising costs 
during 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

Direct response advertising is capitalized and amortized over its expected period of future benefits. The 
Company participates in a week-long industry trade show that takes place once every three years. The 
Company maintains customer and potential customer attendance records that are used to track the 
future sales revenues as a result of their advertising and customer relation efforts at the show. The costs 
related to the trade exhibits and show attendance are capitalized, then amortized over the period in which 
revenue related to the trade show is generated, which is twenty-four months. Sixty percent (60%) of costs 
are expensed during the first twelve months following the show and the remaining forty percent (40%) is 
expensed over the succeeding twelve-month period based on historical revenue patterns. The amortization 
method is supported by the attendance and revenue related records maintained by the Company. Prepaid 
trade show expenses totaled $293,000 and $1,472,000 as of December 31, 2003 and 2002. Amortized 
advertising expenses related to presentation and attendance at trade shows were $1,418,000, $963,000 and 
$257,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001.

Stock-based Compensation - As permitted under Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) 
No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation, the Company accounts for stock-based compensation 
in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion (APB) No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to 
Employees, and accordingly, recognizes no compensation expense for the stock option grants as long as 
the exercise price is equal to or more than the fair value of the shares at the date of the grant. Because 
all option grants for 2003, 2002 and 2001 were at or above the fair value of the shares, no stock-based 
employee compensation cost is reflected in net income (loss) for those years.

During 2002 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued SFAS No. 148 Accounting for Stock-based 
Compensation - Transition and Disclosure. SFAS No. 148 amends SFAS No. 123 to provide alternative 
methods of transition for an entity that voluntarily changes to the fair value based method of accounting 
for stock-based employee compensation. It also amends the disclosure provisions of that statement to 
require prominent disclosure about the effects on the reporting of net income of an entity’s accounting policy 
decisions with respect to stock-based employee compensation. Finally, SFAS No. 148 amends APB Opinion 
No. 28, Interim Financial Reporting, to require disclosure about these effects in interim financial information. 
Although Statement 148 does not amend Statement 123 to require companies to account for employee 
stock options using the fair value method, the disclosure provisions of Statement 148 are applicable to all 
companies with stock-based compensation, regardless of whether they account for that compensation using 
the fair value method of Statement 123 or the intrinsic value method of APB No. 25. 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Years Ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Basis of Presentation - The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Astec Industries, 
Inc. and its domestic and foreign subsidiaries. The Company’s significant wholly-owned and consolidated 
subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Until December 31, 2001 the Company’s investment in a fifty percent (50%) owned joint venture, Pavement 
Technology, Inc., was accounted for on an equity basis. On December 31, 2001 the Company acquired the 
remaining fifty percent (50%) interest in Pavement Technology, Inc. and merged it into Astec, Inc.

Use of Estimates - The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts reported and disclosed in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

Cash Equivalents - The Company considers all highly liquid instruments purchased with a maturity of less 
than three months to be cash equivalents. 

Concentration of Credit Risk - The Company sells products to a wide variety of customers. Accounts 
receivable and finance receivables are carried at their outstanding principal amounts, less an allowance for 
doubtful accounts. The Company extends credit to its customers based on an evaluation of the customer’s 
financial condition generally without requiring collateral. Credit risk is driven by conditions within the 
economy and the industry and is principally dependent on each customer’s financial condition. To minimize 
credit risk, the Company monitors credit levels and financial conditions of customers on a continuing basis. 
The Company maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts at a level which management believes is 
sufficient to cover potential credit losses. As of December 31, 2003, concentrations of credit risk with respect 
to receivables are limited due to the wide variety of customers.

Foreign Currency Translation – Subsidiaries located in Canada and South Africa operate primarily 
using local functional currency. Accordingly, assets and liabilities of these subsidiaries are translated using 
exchange rates in effect at the end of the period, and revenues and costs are translated using average 
exchange rates for the period. The resulting adjustments are presented as a separate component of 
accumulated other comprehensive income.

Inventories - Inventories (excluding used equipment) are stated at the lower of first-in, first-out cost or 
market. Used equipment inventories are stated at the lower of specific unit cost or market.

Property and Equipment - Property and equipment is stated at cost. Depreciation is calculated for financial 
reporting purposes using the straight-line method based on the estimated useful lives of the assets as 
follows: buildings (40 years) and equipment (3 to 10 years). Both accelerated and straight-line methods are 
used for tax reporting purposes.

Goodwill - Goodwill represents the excess of cost over the fair value of net identifiable assets acquired. 
Goodwill amounts were amortized using the straight-line method over 20 years through 2001. Effective 
January 1, 2002, goodwill is no longer being amortized in accordance with Statement of Financial 
Accounting Standards No. 142 (SFAS 142) Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets, but will be tested 
for impairment at least annually. Accumulated goodwill amortization was approximately $2,464,000 at 
December 31, 2003 and approximately $7,258,000 at December 31, 2002. 

American Augers, Inc. Heatec, Inc.
Astec, Inc. Johnson Crushers International, Inc.
Astec Financial Services, Inc. Kolberg-Pioneer, Inc.
Astec Insurance Company Osborn Engineered Products SA (Pty) Ltd. (91% owned)
Astec Systems, Inc. Production Engineered Products, Inc.
Breaker Technology, Inc. Roadtec, Inc.
Breaker Technology Ltd. Superior Industries of Morris, Inc.
Carlson Paving Products, Inc. Telsmith, Inc.
CEI Enterprises, Inc. Trencor, Inc.
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Case Product Line
Current assets $          725,393
Property, plant and equipment 350,000
Intangibles 2,000,000
Net assets acquired $       3,075,393

Derivatives and Hedging Activities - In June 1998 the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued 
SFAS No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities, which was amended by SFAS 
Nos. 137 and 138. SFAS No. 133, as amended, requires the Company to recognize all derivatives in the 
balance sheet at fair value. Derivatives that are not hedged must be adjusted to fair value through income. 
If the derivative is a hedge, depending on the nature of the hedge, changes in the fair value of derivatives 
are either offset against the change in fair value of assets, liabilities, or firm commitments through income 
or recognized in other comprehensive income until the hedged item is recognized in income. The ineffective 
portion of a derivative’s change in fair value is immediately recognized in income. 

Shipping and Handling Fees and Cost - The Company records revenues earned for shipping and handling 
as net sales, while the cost of shipping and handling is classified as cost of goods sold. 

Reclassifications - Certain amounts for 2002 and 2001 have been reclassified to conform with the 2003 
presentation.

2. Business Combinations 

The Company’s acquisitions have been accounted for using the purchase method of accounting, and 
accordingly, the operating results of the acquired businesses are included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements from the respective acquisition dates. The assets acquired and liabilities assumed were 
recorded at estimated fair value. That portion of the purchase price in excess of the fair market value of the 
net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

On July 1, 2002 the Company announced it had entered into a strategic alliance with Case Construction 
Equipment for the manufacture, marketing and sale of trenchers, horizontal directional drills (“HDDs”) and 
related equipment for the utility construction market. Under an original equipment manufacturer agreement 
(“OEM”), the Company’s Underground Group produces the current line of eight Case trenchers, three HDDs, 
HDD fluid-mixing systems and downhole tools, and also dedicates selected models of Trencor trenchers and 
American Augers HDDs, which are distributed through the Case dealer networks. As part of the agreement, 
the Company also has access to Case’s worldwide dealer networks and access to Case’s purchasing power 
for these product lines through its supply base. As part of the agreement, the Company acquired certain 
intellectual property, tooling and other product-specific manufacturing assets from Case. 

A summary of the net assets acquired is as follows:

On December 31, 2001 the Company acquired the remaining fifty percent (50%) interest in its joint venture 
investment, Pavement Technology, Inc., for 10,000 shares of the Company’s stock valued at approximately 
$143,000.

3. Inventories

Inventories consisted of the following:
December 31,

2003 2002
Raw materials and parts $      49,276,911 $      47,937,679
Work-in-process 26,112,548 20,606,056
Finished goods 18,086,370 27,765,774
Used equipment 16,757,866 23,928,012
Total $    110,233,695 $    120,237,521

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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The fair value of each option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing 
model with the following weighted average assumptions:

2003 Grants 2002 Grants 2001 Grants
Expected life 8 years 4 years 4 years
Expected volatility 0.478 0.462 0.460
Risk-free interest rate 2.94% 2.03% 3.93%
Dividend yield  --                   --                   --

Earnings Per Share - Basic and diluted earnings per share are calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 
128, Earnings per Share. Basic earnings per share is based on the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding and diluted earnings per share includes potential dilutive effects of options, warrants and 
convertible securities. 

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Numerator:
 Net income (loss) $ (28,964,005) $   (4,705,926) $     1,992,422
Denominator:
 Denominator for basic earnings per share 19,671,697 19,638,103 19,441,818
 Effect of dilutive securities:
  Employee stock options -- -- 311,408

Denominator for diluted earnings per share 19,671,697 19,638,103 19,753,226

Earnings per common share:
 Basic $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10
 Diluted $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), as reported $ (28,964,005) $   (4,705,926) $     1,992,422
Stock compensation expense under SFAS No. 123, net of taxes (40,138) (1,886,735) (2,611,266)
Adjusted net (loss) $ (29,004,143) $   (6,592,661) $      (618,844)

Basic earnings (loss) per share, as reported $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10
Stock compensation expense under SFAS No. 123, net of taxes -- (0.10) (0.13)
Adjusted basic (loss) per share $            (1.47) $            (0.34) $            (0.03)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, as reported $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10
Stock compensation expense under SFAS No. 123, net of taxes -- (0.10) (0.13)
Adjusted diluted (loss) per share $            (1.47) $            (0.34) $            (0.03)

The following pro forma summary presents the Company’s net income (loss) and per share earnings (loss) 
which would have been reported had the Company determined stock compensation cost using the fair value 
method of accounting set forth under SFAS No. 123. The pro forma impact on net income (loss) shown 
below may not be representative of future effects.
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5. Other Intangible Assets

SFAS No. 144 requires long-lived assets be reviewed for impairment when events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value of the assets may not be recoverable. The Company does 
not routinely perform tests of recoverability, but as the result of impaired goodwill as of December 31, 2003, 
other long-lived assets of the company were reviewed for possible impairment. SFAS No. 144 requires 
recognition of impairment loss for long-lived assets “held and used” if the sum of the estimated future 
undiscounted cash flows used to test for recoverability is less than the carrying value. For the reporting units 
with goodwill impairment, the undiscounted cash flows of these units were compared to the net book value 
of the fixed and other intangible assets as applicable. The review of long-lived assets at December 31, 2003 
did not indicate asset impairment.

Amortization expense for other intangible assets was $277,796, $110,236 and $0, for 2003, 2002 and 2001, 
respectively. Other intangible assets consisted of the following at December 31, 2003:

Asphalt 
Group

Aggregate 
and Mining 

Group

Mobile
Asphalt Paving 

Group
Underground 

Group Total

Balance December 31, 2001 $ 2,086,304 $18,299,177 $    3,995,023 $11,734,479 $ 36,114,983

Purchase price adjustments 16,926 (38,632) (21,706)

Balance December 31, 2002  2,086,304 18,316,103     3,956,391 11,734,479  36,093,277

Goodwill impairment (929,486) (1,287,010) (2,310,000) (11,734,479) (16,260,975)

Foreign currency translation 1,054,782 1,054,782

Balance December 31, 2003 $ 1,156,818 $18,083,875 $    1,646,391 $             -- $ 20,887,084

Approximate amortization expense for the next five years is expected as follows:

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by operating segment for the years ended December 31, 
2003 and December 31, 2002 are as follows:

Gross
Carrying

Value

Accumulated 
Amortization 

Dec. 31, 2002

Accumulated 
Amortization

Dec. 31, 2003

Net Carrying
Value

Dec. 31, 2003

Weighted Avg. 
Amortization 

Period

Dealer network and customer base $    820,000 $     (45,197) $   (122,677) $     697,323 10 years

Drawings 820,000 (45,197) (122,677) 697,323 10 years

Trademarks 336,000 (18,520) (124,347) 211,653 3 years

Patents 24,000 (1,322) (18,331) 5,669 2 years

Total $ 2,000,000 $   (110,236) $   (388,032) $  1,611,968 9 years

2004 $266,000 2007 $155,000
2005 261,000 2008 155,000
2006 155,000
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4. Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair market value of identifiable net assets 
acquired in business combinations. The Company adopted SFAS No. 142 in January 2002 and performed 
an initial valuation of goodwill that did not indicate impairment. SFAS No. 142 provides that goodwill and 
certain other intangible assets no longer will be amortized for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 
2001 but will be tested for impairment at least annually. The Company measures goodwill impairment by 
comparing the carrying value of its reporting units, including goodwill, with the fair value of the reporting unit 
measured by determining the present value of future cash flows.

In accordance with the provisions of SFAS No. 142, the Company performed valuation procedures as of 
December 31, 2003. To complete the first step of valuation, the Company used discounted cash flows 
(“DCF”) to apply the income approach to indicate potential impairment of goodwill. The DCF method is 
based on the premise that the value of the reporting unit is the present value of the future economic income 
or cash flows to be derived by the reporting unit. This method analyzes discretely the three factors which 
directly determine value: 1) the amount of cash expected to be generated; 2) the timing of the cash flow; 
and 3) the riskiness of the projected cash flows. The DCF was based on a debt-free cash flow stream and 
margin and growth assumptions were consistent with the reporting units’ internal planning. If during step-
one valuation procedures, the carrying value of shareholders equity was in excess of fair value, goodwill 
impairment was indicated and step-two procedures were completed.

Step-two testing required an estimate of the fair value of the reporting units’ goodwill. To estimate the 
fair value of goodwill, the fair value of the reporting units’ assets and liabilities is estimated, including 
identification and valuation of intangible assets that meet the criteria of SFAS No. 141. The other intangible 
assets considered include customer relationships, patent and trademarks and non-compete agreements.  
The fair value of the reporting units’ goodwill is compared to its carrying value to determine the impairment of 
goodwill.

The valuation indicated impairment of goodwill in five reporting units totaling approximately $16,261,000. 
The Company believes various factors led to the goodwill impairment determined as of December 31, 2003. 
The economic downturn and political uncertainty, both of which have increased competitive pricing pressure 
and contributed to under utilization of capacity during 2003, negatively impacted the expected revenue 
growth and expected cash flows in each of the Company’s operating segments. In addition, the learning 
curve and costs related to the startup of the Case product line also negatively impacted expected cash flows 
of the Underground Group. Goodwill impairment expense of this amount is included in loss from operations 
for the year ended December 31, 2003. At December 31, 2003 the Company had unamortized goodwill in 
the amount of $20,887,084. Amortization expense related to goodwill was $2,154,000 for the year ended 
December 31, 2001.

The following table presents the Company’s net income assuming goodwill had not been amortized during 
the twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Net income (loss), as reported $ (28,964,005) $   (4,705,926) $     1,992,442
Add goodwill amortization, net of taxes 1,335,000
Adjusted net income (loss) $ (28,964,005) $   (4,705,926) $     3,327,442

Basic earnings (loss) per share, as reported $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10
Add goodwill amortization, net of taxes 0.07
Adjusted basic earnings (loss) per share $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.17

Diluted earnings (loss) per share, as reported $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.10
Add goodwill amortization, net of taxes 0.07
Adjusted diluted earnings (loss) per share $            (1.47) $            (0.24) $              0.17
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On September 10, 2001 the Company and Astec Financial Services, Inc. entered into a $125,000,000 
revolving credit facility with a syndicate of banks that was scheduled to expire on September 10, 2004 and 
an $80,000,000 note purchase agreement for senior secured notes, placed with private institutions. On
May 14, 2003, the Company paid off the revolving credit facility and senior note agreement with proceeds 
from a new credit agreement of up to $150,000,000 through GE Capital secured by the Company’s assets. 
On May 19, 2003, related to the early payment of the senior note obligation, the Company issued to the 
former senior note holders subordinated convertible notes in the aggregate principal amount of $10,000,000 
to satisfy “make-whole” obligations under the senior notes by reason of the prepayment. The subordinated 
convertible notes included an option whereby the Company could redeem the notes at a discount pursuant 
to an agreed upon schedule as set forth in the subordinated convertible notes. The Company exercised the 
redemption option according to the discount schedule pursuant to the subordinated convertible notes and 
recorded the related obligation and “make-whole”, or termination expense, of $3,837,000. On July 15, 2003, 
in accordance with the discount schedule, the Company exercised its right to redeem the subordinated 
convertible notes for $4,154,000, which included accrued interest through that date.

As a result of this redemption, the Company satisfied all of its obligations related to the early payoff and the 
“make-whole” provision of the senior note agreement. As part of the GE Capital agreement, the Company 
entered into a term loan in the amount of $37,500,000 with an interest rate of one-percent (1%) above the 
Wall Street Journal prime rate and a maturity date of May 14, 2007. The Company may elect an interest rate 
of three-percent (3%) above the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”). 

The May 14, 2003 credit agreement also included a revolving credit facility of up to $112,500,000, of which 
available credit under the facility is based on a percentage of the Company’s eligible accounts receivable 
and inventories. Availability under the revolving facility is adjusted monthly and interest is due in arrears. 
The revolving credit facility has a maturity date of May 14, 2007 and at inception, the interest rate on the 
revolving credit loan was one-percent (1%) above the Wall Street Journal prime rate or, at the election 
of the Company, three-percent (3%) above LIBOR. The credit facility contains certain restrictive financial 
covenants relative to operating ratios and capital expenditures. 

December 31,
2003 2002

Revolving credit loan of $87,500,000 at December 31, 2003
 at interest rates from 4.67% to 5.50% at December 31, 2003 $     27,996,898
Revolving credit loan of $58,200,000 at December 31, 2002,
 paid in 2003 $      31,902,204
Term loan due May 14, 2007 payable in quarterly installments of
 $1,339,286 beginning July 1, 2003 at a rate of 5.5% at December 31, 2003 34,821,429
$80,000,000 Senior Secured Note due September 10, 2011,
 paid in 2003 80,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds payable in annual installments
 of $500,000 through 2006 at weekly negotiated interest rates 1,500,000 2,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due in 2019,
 paid in 2003 8,000,000
Industrial Development Revenue Bonds due in 2028 at
 weekly negotiated interest rates 9,200,000 9,200,000
Other current notes payable 1,863,283 2,762,265
Total debt 75,381,610 133,864,469
Revolving credit loan 27,996,898 --
Less current maturities 8,688,521 3,219,725
Total debt less current maturities $     38,696,191 $    130,644,744

8. Debt

Debt consisted of the following:
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2004 $2,459,647
2005 975,312
2006 287,754
2007 129,163
2008 59,352
Thereafter 54,208

Until December 31, 2002, Astec Financial Services, Inc. leased equipment to customers under contracts 
generally ranging from 36 to 48 months. Rental income under such leases was $662,000, $2,859,000 and 
$2,846,000 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.

At December 31, 2003 the Company did not have outstanding lease receivables and no future minimum 
rental payments to be received for equipment leased to others.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

7. Leases 

The Company leases certain land, buildings and equipment for use in its operations. Total rental expense 
charged to operations under operating leases was approximately $3,550,000, $3,738,000 and $4,072,000 
for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, respectively.

Minimum rental commitments for all noncancelable operating leases at December 31, 2003 are as follows:

December 31,
2003 2002

Land, land improvements and buildings $    80,019,568 $     86,636,858
Equipment 112,184,212 111,476,360
Less accumulated depreciation (87,022,027) (78,864,180)
Land, buildings and equipment - net 105,181,753 119,249,038
Rental property:
Equipment -- 8,477,034
Less accumulated depreciation -- (1,926,793)
Rental equipment - net -- 6,550,241
Total $  105,181,753 $   125,799,279

6. Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consisted of the following:

Depreciation expense was approximately $12,674,000, $15,070,000 and $14,807,000 for the years ended 
December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001, respectively.
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10. Retirement and Post-retirement Benefits

The Company sponsors a defined benefit pension plan that covers all employees of its Kolberg-Pioneer, 
Inc. subsidiary. Benefits paid under this plan are based on years of service multiplied by a monthly amount. 
In addition, the Company also sponsors two post-retirement medical and life insurance plans covering the 
employees of its Kolberg-Pioneer, Inc. and Telsmith, Inc. subsidiaries and retirees of its former Barber-
Greene subsidiary. The Company’s funding policy for all plans is to make the minimum annual contributions 
required by applicable regulations.

The Company’s investment strategy for the Kolberg-Pioneer, Inc. pension plan is to earn a rate of return 
sufficient to match or exceed the long-term growth of pension liabilities. The investment policy states that 
the Plan Committee in its sole discretion shall determine the allocation of plan assets among the following 
four asset classes: cash equivalents, fixed-income securities, domestic equities and international equities. 
Adequate diversification of the invested assets is assured through investment over several asset classes, 
investment in a portfolio of diversified assets within an asset class or the use of multiple investment 
portfolios.

The accrued benefit for 2003 and 2002 for the Company’s three post-retirement benefit plans was 
$1,120,276 and $980,866 for the Telsmith, Inc. Retiree Medical and Life Insurance Plan; $434,830 and 
$475,991 for the Kolberg-Pioneer, Inc. Retiree Life Insurance Plan and Post-retirement Medical Plan; and 
$82,909 and $75,120 for the Barber-Greene Retirement Life Insurance Plan.

The following provides information regarding benefit obligations, plan assets and the funded status of the 
plans:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2003 2002

Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 9,559,804 $ 8,176,169 $ 1,744,260 $ 1,916,424
Service cost 365,724 387,527 122,189 110,803
Interest cost 607,151 583,709 99,155 106,341
Actuarial (gain) loss 519,815 723,519 (85,038) (308,789)
Curtailment (1,682,571) -- -- --
Benefits paid (331,905) (311,120) (116,420) (80,519)
Benefit obligation at end of year 9,038,018 9,559,804 1,764,146 1,744,260
Accumulated benefit obligation 9,038,018 7,928,951
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 3,828,387 5,337,936
Actual return on plan assets 909,420 (1,273,391)
Employer contribution 404,763 74,962
Benefits paid (331,905) (311,120)
Fair value of plan assets at end of year 4,810,665 3,828,387
Funded status (underfunded) (4,227,353) (5,731,417) (1,764,146) (1,744,260)
Unrecognized net actuarial loss 1,849,439 3,761,302 126,131 212,283
Accrued benefit cost (2,377,914) (1,970,115) (1,638,015) (1,531,977)
Accounts recognized in the consolidated
balance sheets
Accrued benefit cost (2,377,914) (1,970,115) (1,638,015) (1,531,977)
Additional minimum liability (1,849,439) (2,130,449)
Accrued benefit liability (4,227,353) (4,100,564) (1,638,015) (1,531,977)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 1,849,439 2,130,449
Net amount recognized $(2,377,914) $(1,970,115) $(1,638,015) $(1,531,977)
Weighted-average assumptions as of December 31
Discount rate 6.25% 6.75% 6.25% 6.75%
Expected return on plan assets 9.00% 9.00%
Rate of compensation increase 4.50% 4.50%
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2003 2002
Reserve balance at beginning of period $      3,646,045 $       3,277,268
Warranty liabilities accrued during the period 7,663,534 8,840,731
Warranty liabilities settled during the period (7,696,649) (8,471,954)
Reserve balance at end of period $      3,612,930 $       3,646,045

The Company warrants its products against manufacturing defects and performance to specified standards. 
The warranty period and performance standards vary by market and uses of its products. The Company 
estimates the costs that may be incurred under its warranties and records a liability at the time product 
sales are recorded. The warrant liability is primarily based on historical claim rates, nature of claims and the 
associated costs.

2004 $8,688,521 2007 $17,760,635
2005 5,867,778 2008 ---
2006 5,867,778 Thereafter 9,200,000

For 2003, the weighted average interest rate on short-term borrowings, which includes current maturities of 
Industrial Revenue Bonds, was 4.63%

9. Product Warranty Reserves

Changes in the Company’s product warranty liability during the year are as follows:

On September 30, 2003, related to the syndication of the loan by GE Capital, the Company entered into an 
amendment to the Credit Agreement that reduced the availability under the credit facility from $112,500,000 
to $87,500,000, which includes $5,000,000 for use by the Canadian subsidiary Breaker Technology Ltd. In 
addition, the amendment increased the interest rate on the term loan and the revolving facility to one and 
one-half (1.5%) percent above prime or, at the election of the Company, to three and one-half
(3.5%) percent above LIBOR.

The Company was not in compliance with a financial covenant under its credit facility as of December 31, 
2003. On March 3, 2004 the Company entered into an amendment to the credit agreement, which waived 
the covenant violation and amended the financial covenants for 2004.

The Company’s Canadian subsidiary, Breaker Technology Ltd, has available a credit facility issued by GE 
Capital dated May 14, 2003 with a term of four years for $5,000,000 to finance short-term working capital 
needs, as well as to cover the short-term establishment of letter of credit guarantees. As of December 31, 
2003, Breaker Technology Ltd had an outstanding cash balance due under the credit facility of $50,000 
and approximately $195,000 in letter of credit guarantees under the facility. The Company is the primary 
guarantor to GE Capital of payment and performance for this $5,000,000 credit facility. The term of the 
guarantee is equal to the related debt. The maximum potential amount of future payments the Company 
would be required to make under its guarantee at December 31, 2003 is $245,000, of which $50,000 is 
recorded as debt in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet.

In accordance with Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue 95-22 Balance Sheet Classification of 
Borrowings Outstanding Under Revolving Credit Agreements That Include Both a Subjective Acceleration 
Clause and a Lock-Box Arrangement, the Company classifies the revolving credit facility as a current liability 
in its financial statements. The aggregate of all maturities of long-term debt, which does not include the 
revolving credit facility, in each of the next five years is as follows:
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes consisted of the following:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

United States $ (34,295,452) $   (9,185,974) $     1,933,324
Foreign 878,444 2,060,993 1,663,724
Income (loss) before income taxes $ (33,417,008) $   (7,124,981) $     3,597,048

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Current provision (benefit) $    1,022,232 $   (3,551,979) $        381,396
Deferred provision (benefit) (5,508,648) 1,040,713 1,099,352
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes $   (4,486,416) $   (2,511,266) $     1,480,748

A reconciliation of the provision (benefit) for income taxes at the statutory federal rate to the amount 
provided (benefited) is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Tax at statutory rates $  (11,361,783) $   (2,493,743) $    1,258,967
Benefit from foreign sales (190,961) (265,878) (474,315)
State taxes, net of federal income tax 283,920 (208,445) 1,586
Non-deductible goodwill impairment 5,389,411
Other permanent differences 343,376 456,800 859,329
Change in valuation allowance 1,049,621
Other items (164,819)
Income tax provision (benefit) $   (4,486,416) $   (2,511,266) $    1,480,748

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial statement purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Due 
to uncertainty regarding the realization of certain state tax loss carryforwards, the Company established 
a valuation allowance in 2003. As of December 31, 2003 the Company has federal net operation loss 
carryforwards of approximately $12,500,000 which are available to reduce future taxable income. These loss 
carryforwards expire in 2023 if not utilized earlier.

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002

Deferred tax assets:
 Inventory reserves $    3,447,507 $     2,986,350
 Warranty reserves 1,044,347 1,066,751
 Bad debt reserves 671,104 940,538
 Federal net operating loss carryforwards 4,393,225
 State tax loss carryforwards 1,324,111
 Other 6,462,890 7,928,366
Total deferred tax assets 17,343,184 12,922,005
Deferred tax liabilities:
 Property and equipment 9,462,299 11,036,376
 Other 821,799 1,384,812
Total deferred tax liabilities 10,284,098 12,421,188
Valuation allowance (1,049,621)
Net deferred tax asset $    6,009,465 $        500,817

11. Income Taxes

For financial reporting purposes, income (loss) before income taxes includes the following components:
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During 2003 a layoff occurred, resulting in a curtailment gain of $147,249. A freeze in plan benefits also 
occurred in 2003, resulting in a curtailment gain of $1,535,322. The total gain of $1,682,571 was offset 
against the outstanding balance of unrecognized losses and had no effect on plan costs during 2003.

The return on plan assets reflects the weighted-average of the expected long-term rate of return for the 
broad categories of investments held in the plan. The expected long-term rate of return is adjusted when 
there are fundamental changes in expected returns on the plan investments. The fair value of plan assets at 
December 31, 2003 and 2002 consisted entirely of equity securities.

The weighted average annual assumed rate of increase in per capita health care costs is ten percent 
(10.0%) for 2004 and is assumed to decrease gradually to five and three-quarter percent (5.75%) for 2012 
and remain at that level thereafter. A one percent (1.0%) increase or decrease in the medical inflation rate 
would not have a significant effect on either the benefit obligation or the aggregate service and interest cost 
components of net periodic benefit cost.

Net periodic benefit cost for 2003, 2002 and 2001 included the following components:

Pension Benefits Other Benefits
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001

Components of net periodic benefit cost
Service cost $365,724 $387,527 $393,391 $122,189 $110,803 $117,596
Interest cost 607,151 583,709 528,474 99,155 106,341 122,610
Expected return on plan assets (339,393) (467,132) (558,237)
Amortization of transition obligation 29,921 29,707 30,555
Recognized net actuarial (gain) loss 179,080 86,264 (28,807) (14,746)
Net periodic benefit cost $812,562 $590,368 $363,628 $222,458 $232,105 $270,761

The Company expects to contribute approximately $1,400,000 to the pension plan and approximately 
$62,000 to the other benefit plans during 2004.

The Company sponsors a defined contribution plan to provide eligible employees with additional income 
upon retirement. The Company’s contributions to the plan are based on employee contributions. The 
Company’s contributions totaled $1,931,000 in 2003, $2,276,000 in 2002 and $2,303,000 in 2001.

The Company maintains a supplemental executive retirement plan (“SERP”) for certain of its executive 
officers. The plan is a non-qualified deferred compensation plan administered by the Board of Directors of 
the Company, pursuant to which the Company makes quarterly cash contributions of a certain percentage 
of executive officers’ annual salaries. The SERP invests the cash contributions in Company Common 
Stock that it purchases on the open market. Upon retirement, executives may receive their apportioned 
contributions of the plan assets as Company stock or cash.

Assets of the supplemental executive retirement plan consisted of the following:

December 31, 2003 December 31, 2002
Shares Cost Market Shares Cost Market

Company stock 99,009 $ 1,459,000 $ 1,215,000 79,069 $ 1,283,000 $    786,000
Equity securities 75,870 632,000 595,000 69,593 571,000 476,000
Total 174,879 $ 2,091,000 $ 1,810,000 148,662 $ 1,854,000 $ 1,262,000

The Company’s two post-retirement medical and life insurance plans provide prescription drug benefits that 
may be affected by the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003 (the “Act”), 
signed into law in December 2003. In accordance with FASB Staff Position FAS 106-1, Accounting and 
Disclosure Requirements Related to the Medicare Prescription Drug, Improvement and Modernization Act 
of 2003, the effects of the Act on the Company’s medical plans have not been included in the measurement 
of the accumulated post-retirement benefit obligation or net periodic post-retirement benefit cost for 2003. 
Specific authoritative guidance from the FASB on the accounting for the federal subsidy is pending and 
that guidance, when issued, may require the Company to restate previously reported information and may 
require the Company to amend its plans to benefit from the Act.



54

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of
Exercise Price

Number
Outstanding

Weighted Avg. 
Remaining

Contractual Life
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price

Number
Exercisable

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price

$4.56 - $6.44 246,744 3 years $     5.15 246,744 $     5.15
$7.44 - $14.27 538,280 7 years    12.93 538,280   12.93

$14.50 - $19.11 1,128,613 6 years    15.90 1,128,613    15.90
$22.93 - $36.00 1,092,020 5 years    27.54 1,092,020    27.54

   Total 3,005,657 6 years $   18.72 3,005,657 $   18.72

Year Ended December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Options
Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price Options

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price Options

Weighted Avg.
Exercise Price

Options outstanding,  
 beginning of year 3,146,242 $ 18.54 2,622,169 $ 19.61 2,173,034 $ 20.53
Options granted
 at market price 8,262    8.69 608,162  14.45 596,586  12.91
Options granted at
 above market price -- -- 6,269 15.95 7,007 14.27
Options forfeited 92,847  19.20 37,618  27.91 7,850  22.44
Options exercised 56,000    6.82 52,740    9.88 146,608    5.03
Options outstanding,
 end of year 3,005,657 $ 18.72 3,146,242 $ 18.54 2,622,169 $ 19.61

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The Company has adopted a Shareholder Protection Rights Agreement and declared a distribution of 
one right (the “Right”) for each outstanding share of Company common stock, par value $0.20 per share 
(the “Common Stock”). Each Right entitles the registered holder to purchase from the Company one one-
hundredth of a share (a “Unit”) of Series A Participating Preferred Stock, par value $1.00 per share (the 
“Preferred Stock”), at a purchase price of $18.00 per Unit, subject to adjustment. The Rights currently attach 
to the certificates representing shares of outstanding Company Common Stock, and no separate Rights 
certificates will be distributed. The Rights will separate from the Common Stock upon the earlier of ten 
business days (unless otherwise delayed by the Board) following the 1) public announcement that a person 
or group of affiliated or associated persons (the “Acquiring Person”) has acquired, obtained the right to 
acquire, or otherwise obtained beneficial ownership of fifteen percent (15%) or more of the then outstanding 
shares of Common Stock, or 2) commencement of a tender offer or exchange offer that would result in 
an Acquiring Person beneficially owning fifteen percent (15%) or more of the then outstanding shares of 
Common Stock. The Board of Directors may terminate the Rights without any payment to the holders thereof 
at any time prior to the close of business ten business days following announcement by the Company that a 
person has become an Acquiring Person. The Rights, which do not have voting power and are not entitled to 
dividends, expire on December 21, 2005. In the event of a merger, consolidation, statutory share exchange 
or other transaction in which shares of Common Stock are exchanged, each Unit of Preferred Stock will be 
entitled to receive the per share amount paid in respect of each share of Common Stock.

The weighted average fair value of options granted whose exercise price was equal to the market price of 
the stock on the grant date was $4.83, $5.77 and $5.25 for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 
2001, respectively. The weighted average fair value of options granted whose exercise price exceeded the 
market price of the stock on the grant date was $7.67 and $7.72 for the years ended December 31, 2002 
and 2001, respectively. No options were granted during 2003 whose exercise price exceeded the market 
price of the stock on the grant date.

The following table summarizes information about the stock options outstanding under the Company’s option 
plans as of December 31, 2003:

A summary of the Company’s stock option activity and related information for the years ended December 31, 
2003, 2002 and 2001 follows:
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12. Contingencies 

Management has reviewed all claims and lawsuits and, upon the advice of counsel, has made adequate 
provision for any estimable losses. However, the Company is unable to predict the ultimate outcome of the 
outstanding claims and lawsuits.

Certain customers have financed purchases of the Company’s products through arrangements in which 
the Company is contingently liable for customer debt of approximately $19,820,000 and for residual value 
guarantees aggregating approximately $1,305,000 at December 31, 2003 and contingently liable for 
customer debt of approximately $14,749,000 at December 31, 2002. The GE Capital credit facility dated 
May 14, 2003 limits contingent liabilities or guaranteed indebtedness created after May 14, 2003 to an 
aggregate total of $5,000,000 at any time, or to $2,000,000 for any one customer. As of December 31, 2003, 
guaranteed indebtedness created under the current loan agreement dated May 14, 2003 was $741,000. At
December 31, 2003 the maximum potential amount of future payments for which the Company would be 
liable is equal to the amounts above. Because the Company does not believe it will be called on to fulfill any 
of these contingencies, the carrying amounts on the consolidated balance sheets of the Company for these 
contingent liabilities are zero. 

The Company is attempting to sell its Grapevine, Texas facility. The future sale of the Grapevine facility 
should generate additional funds, the first $6,250,000 of which will be used to reduce the term loan and the 
remainder will be used to provide working capital or reduce the revolver. There can be no assurances on 
when, or if, the Company will be successful in selling the Grapevine facility.

13. Shareholders’ Equity 

The Company has elected to follow APB 25 and related interpretations in accounting for its employee 
stock options. Under APB 25, when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock options equals or 
exceeds the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation expense is generally 
recognized.

Under terms of the Company’s stock option plans, officers and certain other employees may be granted 
options to purchase the Company’s common stock at no less than 100% of the market price on the date 
the option is granted. The Company has reserved shares of common stock for exercise of outstanding non-
qualified options and incentive options of officers and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries at 
prices determined by the Board of Directors. In addition, a Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan has 
been established to allow non-employee directors to have a personal financial stake in the Company through 
an ownership interest. Directors may elect to receive their compensation in common stock, deferred stock or 
stock options. Options granted under the Non-employee Directors Stock Incentive Plan and the Executive 
Officer Annual Bonus Equity Election Plan vest and become fully exercisable immediately. Generally, other 
options outstanding vest over 12 months. All stock options have a ten-year term. The shares reserved under 
the various stock option plans are as follows: 1) 1992 Stock Option Plan - 243,948, 2) 1998 Long-term 
Incentive Plan - 2,726,346, 3) Executive Officer Annual Bonus Equity Election Plan - 16,892 and 4) 1998 
Non-employee Directors Stock Plan - 18,471.

The Black-Scholes option valuation model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded 
options. These options have no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option valuation 
models require the input of highly subjective assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. 
Because the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of 
traded options, and because changes in the subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair value 
estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure 
of the fair value of its employee stock options.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Segment information for 2001

Asphalt
Group

Aggregate 
and Mining 

Group

Mobile
Asphalt Paving 

Group
Underground 

Group
All

Others Total
Revenues from
 external customers $142,673,987 $182,868,140 $78,487,989 $48,655,104 $   3,153,944 $455,839,164
Intersegment revenues 18,021,023 12,722,446 3,092,286 59,179 3,174,416 37,069,350
Interest expense 463,397 314,616 255,264 8,333,777 9,367,054
Depreciation and
 amortization 4,986,576 5,492,486 2,174,634 2,228,693 2,163,183 17,045,572
Segment profit (loss) 5,021,537 7,460,549 9,020,534 (4,837,408) (14,080,215) 2,584,997

Segment assets 157,947,201 200,699,113 66,712,447 57,501,404 245,183,271 728,043,436
Capital expenditures 3,103,740 3,025,609 1,106,839 453,438 367,796 8,057,422

Segment information for 2002

Asphalt
Group

Aggregate 
and Mining 

Group

Mobile
Asphalt Paving 

Group
Underground 

Group
All

Others Total
Revenues from
 external customers $165,950,960 $199,360,534 $71,905,997 $39,454,630 $   3,917,672 $480,589,793
Intersegment revenues 17,908,632 29,819,117 795,998 1,572,296 3,388,390 53,484,433
Interest expense 16,429 583,347 189,293 306,987 9,378,294 10,474,350
Depreciation and
 amortization 4,469,916 4,437,663 1,935,349 1,684,267 2,684,386 15,211,581
Segment profit (loss) 3,126,983 7,907,885 4,151,862 (8,460,263) (11,645,534) (4,919,067)

Segment assets 158,047,527 203,445,864 75,542,665 73,399,055 266,039,667 776,474,778
Capital expenditures 2,410,339 1,887,448 1,225,450 13,153,489 597,206 19,273,932

Segment information for 2003

Asphalt
Group

Aggregate 
and Mining 

Group

Mobile
Asphalt Paving 

Group
Underground 

Group
All

Others Total
Revenues from
 external customers $119,301,796 $177,707,898 $75,153,367 $52,409,865 $    2,040,111 $426,613,037
Intersegment revenues 7,811,843 10,118,919 330,116 (859,552) 1,448,277 18,849,603
Interest expense 68,776 246,823 28,143 323,249 6,622,064 7,289,055
Depreciation and
 amortization 4,171,523 4,337,945 1,794,981 1,914,772 907,011 13,126,232
Segment profit (loss) (2,712,020) 5,124,259 559,516 (22,003,677) (10,372,369) (29,404,291)

Segment assets 147,701,636 203,153,706 75,506,077 64,368,972 220,370,637 711,101,028
Capital expenditures 345,987 1,113,922 466,009 1,624,919 37,460 3,588,297

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

All Others - This category consists of the Company’s other business units, including the parent company, 
Astec Industries, Inc., that do not meet the requirements for separate disclosure as an operating segment. 
Revenues in this category are derived primarily from operating leases owned by the Company’s former 
finance subsidiary.

The Company evaluates performance and allocates resources based on profit or loss from operations before 
federal income taxes and corporate overhead. The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the 
same as those described in the summary of significant accounting policies. 

Intersegment sales and transfers are valued at prices comparable to those for unrelated parties. For 
management purposes, the Company does not allocate federal income taxes or corporate overhead 
(including interest expense) to its business units.
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14. Financial Instruments

Fair Value of Financial Instruments - The book value of the Company’s financial instruments approximates 
their fair value. Financial instruments include cash, accounts receivable, finance receivables, accounts 
payable, long- and short-term debt. The Company’s short- and long-term debt is floating rate debt and, 
accordingly, book value approximates its fair value. 

Derivative Financial Instruments - The Company only uses derivatives for hedging purposes. Until its 
termination on May 13, 2003, the Company had a cash flow hedge, which required that the effective portion 
of the change in the fair value of the derivative instrument be recognized in other comprehensive income 
(“OCI”), a component of shareholders’ equity, and reclassified into earnings in the same period, or periods 
during which the hedged transaction affected earnings. The ineffective portion of the hedge, if any, was 
recognized in current operating earnings during the period of change in fair value. 

Astec Financial Services, Inc. entered into an interest rate swap agreement on April 6, 2000 to fix interest 
rates on variable rate debt. The swap agreement, originally effective for five years with a notional amount of 
$7,500,000, was terminated on May 13, 2003, requiring a cash payment of $881,500. The objective of the 
hedge was to offset the variability of cash flows relating to the interest payments on the variable rate debt 
outstanding under the Company’s revolving credit facility. The sole source of the variability in the hedged 
cash flows resulted from changes in the benchmark market interest rate, which was three-month London 
Interbank Offered Rate.

Under guidance of SFAS 133 amended by SFAS 138 for termination of a cash flow hedge, net derivative 
gain or loss related to a discontinued cash flow hedge, are to be accounted for prospectively. The Company 
continues to pay variable rate interest under its new debt agreement. The $881,500 in OCI at the swap 
termination date will be amortized into earnings through interest expense over the remaining life of the 
original hedge, provided the variable-rate interest obligations continue to exist. From the termination date 
of the swap agreement through December 31, 2003, the Company had OCI amortized through interest 
expense of approximately $287,000. Monthly amortization of OCI through interest expense is expected to 
approximate $38,000 through April 2005. 

15. Operations by Industry Segment and Geographic Area

The Company has four reportable operating segments. These segments are combinations of business units 
that offer different products and services. The business units are each managed separately because they 
manufacture and distribute distinct products that require different marketing strategies. A brief description of 
each segment is as follows:

Asphalt Group - This segment consists of three operating units that design, manufacture and market a 
complete line of portable, stationary and relocatable hot-mix asphalt plants and related components and 
a variety of heaters, heat transfer processing equipment and thermal fluid storage tanks. The principal 
purchasers of these products are asphalt producers, highway and heavy equipment contractors and foreign 
and domestic governmental agencies.

Aggregate and Mining Group - This segment consists of eight operating units that design, manufacture 
and market a complete line of rock crushers, feeders, conveyors, screens and washing equipment. The 
principal purchasers of these products are open-mine and quarry operators. 

Mobile Asphalt Paving Group - This segment consists of two operating units that design, manufacture and 
market asphalt pavers, asphalt material transfer vehicles, milling machines and paver screeds. The principal 
purchasers of these products are highway and heavy equipment contractors and foreign and domestic 
governmental agencies.

Underground Group - This segment consists of two operating units that design, manufacture and market 
auger boring machines, directional drills, fluid/mud systems, chain and wheel trenching equipment, rock 
saws, road miners and material processing equipment. The principal purchasers of these products are 
pipeline and utility contractors.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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Receivables may be paid prior to contractual maturity, generally by payment of a prepayment penalty. At 
December 31, 2003 there were no impaired loans or leases. Recognition of income on finance receivables 
is suspended when management determines that collection of future income is not probable. Accrual is 
resumed if the receivable becomes contractually current and collection doubts are removed. Previously 
suspended income is recognized at that time.

17. Other Comprehensive Income

The balance of related after-tax components comprising accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) 
are summarized below:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Foreign currency translation adjustment $    2,628,659 $      (988,356) $   (2,336,401)
Unrealized loss on cash flow hedge, net of tax (368,314) (587,445) (439,730)
Minimum pension liability adjustment, net of tax (1,146,652) (1,320,879)
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) $    1,113,693 $   (2,896,680) $   (2,776,131)

16. Finance Receivables 

Finance receivables are receivables of Astec Financial Services, Inc. Contractual maturities of outstanding 
receivables at December 31, 2003 were:

Amounts Due In Notes

2004 $ 286,795
2005 384,443
2006 197,426

Total $ 868,664

International sales by major geographic regions were as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Asia $     1,258,587 $     1,823,596 $     2,020,836
Southeast Asia 14,905,004 11,377,856 6,462,062
Europe 13,529,481 6,121,596 12,951,596
South America 2,800,534 4,299,233 6,536,419

Canada 13,250,757 14,603,301 13,356,316

Australia 9,064,965 3,836,008 1,642,519
Africa 26,378,309 20,549,157 23,855,351
Central America 5,779,787 9,862,927 20,602,844
Middle East 1,970,874 274,445 666,312
West Indies 5,012,990 3,669,768 2,398,950
Other 1,657,633 2,888,426 917,346
Total $   95,608,921 $   79,306,313 $   91,410,551

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

Reconciliations of the reportable segment totals for revenues, profit or loss, assets, interest expense, 
depreciation and amortization and capital expenditures to the Company’s consolidated totals are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2003 2002 2001

Sales:
Total external sales for reportable segments $  424,572,926 $  476,672,121 $  452,685,220

Intersegment sales for reportable segments 17,401,326 50,096,043 33,894,934

Other sales 3,488,388 7,306,062 6,328,360

Elimination of intersegment sales (18,849,603) (53,484,433) (37,069,350)

Total consolidated sales $  426,613,037 $  480,589,793 $  455,839,164

Profit (loss):
Total profit (loss) for reportable segments $   (19,031,922) $      6,726,467 $    16,665,212

Other (loss) (10,372,369) (11,645,534) (14,080,215)

Equity in loss of joint venture (241,922)

Minority interest in earnings of subsidiary (33,413) (92,211) (123,878)

Elimination of intersegment profit (loss) 473,699 305,352 (226,775)

Total consolidated net income (loss) $   (28,964,005) $     (4,705,926) $      1,992,422

Assets:
Total assets for reportable segments $  490,730,391 $   510,435,111 $  482,860,165

Other assets 220,370,637 266,039,667 245,183,271
Elimination of intercompany profit
 in inventory and leased equipment (258,430) (732,129) (53,481)
Elimination of intercompany receivables (201,027,986) (182,276,729) (149,056,131)

Elimination of investment in subsidiaries (149,233,666) (143,227,984) (143,943,282)

Other eliminations (39,624,481) (33,734,809) (34,299,556)

Total consolidated assets $  320,956,465 $  416,503,127 $  400,690,986

Interest expense:
Total interest expense for reportable segments $         666,991 $      1,096,056 $      1,033,277

Other interest expense 6,622,064 9,378,294 8,333,777

Total consolidated interest expense $      7,289,055 $    10,474,350 $      9,367,054

Depreciation and amortization:
Total depreciation and amortization for reportable segments $    12,219,221 $     12,527,195 $    14,882,389

Other depreciation and amortization 907,011 2,684,386 2,163,183

Total consolidated depreciation and amortization $    13,126,232 $     15,211,581 $    17,045,572

Capital expenditures:
Total capital expenditures for reportable segments $      3,550,837 $    18,676,726 $      7,689,626

Other capital expenditures 37,460 597,206 367,796
Total consolidated capital expenditures (excluding
 those for equipment leased to others) $      3,588,297 $    19,273,932 $      8,057,422
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
Astec Industries, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Astec Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries 
as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ 
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2003. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion 
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, 
evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes 
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe our audits provide a reasonable basis for 
our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of Astec Industries, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2003 and 2002 
and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2003, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States. 

As discussed in Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements, effective January 1, 2002, the Company 
changed its method of accounting for goodwill and intangible assets.

Chattanooga, Tennessee
February 25, 2004,
except for Note 8, as to which the date is
March 5, 2004
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

18. Assets Held for Sale

In 2002 the Company acquired a 300,000 square-feet manufacturing facility located on 108 acres in 
Loudon, Tennessee. Related to this transaction, the Trencor, Inc. manufacturing operations formerly located 
in Grapevine, Texas were relocated to the Loudon, Tennessee facility during the fourth quarter of 2002. 
Expenses incurred during 2002 related to relocation and start-up were $3,276,559. A portion of the office 
space of the Grapevine, Texas facility is currently leased to an unrelated party. The Company continues to 
actively pursue a buyer for the Grapevine, Texas facility and believes it will be sold in 2004 for a gain. The 
carrying value of equipment, land and building totaling $4,980,757 is classified as “assets held for sale” in 
the balance sheet and is included in the assets of the Underground Group segment. 

During the third quarter of 2003 the Company discontinued manufacturing operations at its Pavement 
Technology, Inc. facility located in Covington, Georgia. Certain office and manufacturing space of the facility 
are currently leased to the unrelated, but former president of this facility. The property is listed with a local 
realtor and the Company is actively pursuing a 2004 sale of this manufacturing facility. The Company 
expects to net an amount approximating the carrying value of equipment, land and building of $770,618, 
which is classified as “assets held for sale” in the balance sheet and is included in the assets of the Asphalt 
Group segment.

19. Restatement

The Company has restated the condensed consolidated balance sheets for the quarters ended June 30, 
2003 and September 30, 2003 to properly classify the revolving credit loan with GE Capital as a current 
liability in accordance with EITF Issue No. 95-22, Balance Sheet Classification of Borrowings Outstanding 
under Revolving Credit Agreements that Include both a Subjective Acceleration Clause and a Lock-Box 
Arrangement.

The following table reflects the impact of the reclassification:

Astec Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Cosolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands)

June 30, 2003
(unaudited)

September 30, 2003
(unaudited)

As Previously 
Reported As Restated As Previously 

Reported As Restated

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $      11,280 $      11,280 $      12,610 $      12,610
Trade receivables, net 55,180 55,180 57,313 57,313
Other receivables 2,429 2,429 2,183 2,183
Inventories 113,740 113,740 108,932 108,932
Prepaid expenses and other 23,204 23,204 19,594 19,594
Total current assets 205,833 205,833 200,632 200,632
Property and equipment - net 115,357 115,357 112,969 112,969
Goodwill 36,909 36,909 36,889 36,889
Other assets 5,431 5,431 5,149 5,149
Total assets $    363,530 $    363,530 $    355,639 $    355,639

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity

Current Liabilities
Revolving credit loan $      27,782 $      39,641
Notes payable and current maturities of long-term debt $        9,555   9,555 $        6,409         6,409
Accounts payable - trade 34,158 34,158 28,948 28,948
Accrued product warranty 3,739 3,739 3,841 3,841
Other accrued liabilities 34,929 34,929 33,028 33,028
Total current laibilities 82,381 110,163 72,226 111,867
Long-term debt, less current maturities 78,155 50,373 80,682 41,041
Other non-current liabilities 10,638 10,638 10,645 10,645
Minority interest in colsolidated subsidiary 451 451 475 475
Total shareholders’ equity 191,905 191,905 191,611 191,611
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $   363,530 $    363,530 $    355,639 $    355,639
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